017

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

F	ILED	/
	SID J. WHITE	L
	MAY 12 1993	

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

BROWARD COUNTY, a political : subdivision of the State of : Florida, :

CASE NO.: 81,416

Petitioner,

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

vs.

BHARAT PATEL, et al.,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JOHN J. COPELAN, JR., County Attorney ANTHONY C. MUSTO, Assistant County Attorney Attorneys for Petitioner Broward County Governmental Center, Suite 423 115 South Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Telephone: (305) 357-7600 Telecopier: (305) 357-7641

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner was the plaintiff in the trial court and Respondents were the defendants. Petitioner will be referred to in this brief as "the County" and Respondents will be referred to as "Respondents" or by name. The symbol "R" will constitute a reference to the record on appeal. The symbol "T" will constitute a reference to the trial transcript.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent Bharat Patel owned a 30 unit motel on State Road A-1-A in Pompano Beach. Respondents Warren and Selina Picillo owned a 13 unit adjoining motel. As part of a project to widen the roadway, Broward County instituted an eminent domain action to acquire a four to eight foot strip of each property's frontage.

Patel's property included a paved parking area of 17 to 18 spaces (T 702, 706, 760). After the taking, the paved lot had 18 (T 702, 786, 791) or 19 (T 760) spaces. Because of a site plan on file with the City of Pompano Beach, the owner of this property was lawfully authorized to utilize just 13 parking spaces (T 413, 561, 784-785, 786, 791, 794).

The Picillos' property included nine parking spaces along A-1-A. The County presented expert testimony to the effect that these spaces were still usable after the taking (T 651, 653, 656, 690).

At trial, the County presented the testimony of expert witnesses with regard to alterations that could be done to each of the properties to reconstruct any lost parking facilities. 1

As to each property, the suggested alterations would have required the granting of zoning variances by the City of Pompano

The County's witnesses took the position that no alterations were needed in light of the fact that Patel had as many or more parking spaces after the taking as he did before, and the fact that the Picillos' parking spaces were still usable. Nonetheless, the County alternatively presented site plans for the purpose of showing the cost to cure any damages that might be said to have occurred. With regard to Patel, the cost of the site plan was \$31,775.50 (T 568). With regard to the Picillos, the cost was \$26,117.25 (T 500).

Beach (T 473-474, 564-566). The County therefore also presented expert testimony as to the likelihood of the necessary variances being granted.

The testimony included that of Sheila Rose, the Director of Planning with Keith and Schnars, P.A., an engineering firm with seven offices that undertakes development and redevelopment projects throughout the state (T 463). In that capacity, Ms. Rose supervises a staff of approximately 18 landscape architects, project planners and comprehensive planners (T 462). Ms. Rose testified as to her extensive experience with zoning matters (T 463-466). This experience included dealing with variances on an everyday basis since she joined Keith and Schnars (T 464-465) in 1985 (T 463). Ms. Rose stated that Keith and Schnars had provided a considerable amount of services in Pompano Beach, including seeking a variance on behalf of the city and working as the community redevelopment planner and engineer for the city (T 466-467). Ms. Rose prepared proposed site plans to cure the severance damages on Respondents' properties (T 467, 562-563).

Based on her experience, the fact that she had obtained a written indication from city officials that one of her proposed plans was one that they could support and approve (T 363-364) and investigative research into the history of which types of variances

have been granted in the past by the city (T-475), 2 Ms. Rose gave her opinion that there existed a reasonable probability that if requested the variances would be granted (T 502, 573).

The County also presented the testimony of Regan Yarbrough, the Director of Zoning for the City of Pompano Beach (T 338) and the advisor to the city's Zoning Board of Appeals (T 340), which decides whether to grant variances (T 339). In this capacity, Mr. Yarbrough prepared a seven page report on requests for variances which explore the code provisions, discuss the effect of the variance on adjacent properties and give a recommendation as to whether the applicant has demonstrated a hardship sufficient to warrant a variance (T 342). Mr. Yarbrough reviewed Ms. Rose's proposals regarding the Picillos' property and found that the city could support and approve one of them (T 363-364). Mr. Yarbrough also testified that the Balkan House, a motel of less than 25 units (T 374) located about 8 blocks from the properties with which the present case is concerned (T 373), received variances similar to those needed here when it was affected by the road widening project on A-1-A (T 373-375). Mr. Yarbrough also stated that the Zoning Board of Appeals is "more than generous" and that it grants more variances than the staff recommends (T 397).

Ms. Rose reviewed the 200-300 requests for variances submitted from 1987 through approximately October of 1990 to identify those requests that concerned matters with which her plan dealt (T 493). She located 27 such applications and determined that 24 had been granted (T 494), including three that were resubmitted after an initial denial (T 578).

Also testifying on behalf of the County was Donald T. Sutte, a professional real estate appraiser and consultant (T 606), who reviewed the plan submitted by Ms. Rose. Most of Mr. Sutte's work was in the field of eminent domain or condemnation or in consulting activities related to that field (T 607). Based on his experience, his visits to the motel both before and after the road construction (T 609), his study of all the sites and motels along the affected portion of A-1-A (T 621-625) and his correspondence and conversation with city officials, Mr. Sutte testified that there was a reasonable probability that the necessary variance would be granted (T 628).

Respondents presented evidence that conflicted with much of the evidence presented by the County. Since this case is before this court on a certified question relating to the admissibility of the County's evidence regarding alterations that require the granting of a variance, the evidence presented by Respondents is not relevant to the present proceeding. It therefore will not be detailed here.

The jury awarded Patel \$18,760.00 for the property taken and \$9,360.00 in severance damages.³ The jury awarded the Picillos \$9,100.00 for the property taken and \$26,117.25, the amount suggested by the County's experts, in severance damages.⁴

³ The jury also awarded Patel \$3,300.00 for a second parcel of property unrelated to the issues in the present proceeding.

⁴ The jury also awarded the Picillos \$700.00 for a second parcel of property unrelated to the issues in the present proceeding.

We reverse and remand for a new trial on the authority of Williams v. State Department of Transportation, 579 So. 2d 226 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), and State Department of Transportation v. Byrd, 254 So. 2d 836 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971). These cases stand for the proposition that the government, when attempting to prove cost-to-cure severance damages, cannot present evidence of proposed alterations to a condemnee's property when those alterations are predicated upon the grant of a variance from the controlling zoning authority. Here, virtually the government's entire case on cost-to-cure was predicated upon speculation that such variances would be granted to permit the appellants to relocate and reconstruct parking facilities lost by virtue of the taking. In addition, the government's experts failed to consider any loss to the condemnees by virtue of the appropriation of other areas of their property for parking. See Williams, 579 So. 2d at 229.

Id., at D463 (footnote omitted).

The Fourth District went on to certify the following question to this Court as an issue of great public importance.

MAY THE GOVERNMENT SUBMIT EVIDENCE THAT THE SEVERANCE DAMAGES OF A CONDEMNEE MAY BE CURED OR LESSENED BY ALTERATIONS TO THE CONDEMNEE'S PROPERTY WHEN THOSE ALTERATIONS REQUIRE THE GRANT OF A VARIANCE FROM THE APPROPRIATE GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY HAVING ZONING JURISDICTION OVER THE PROPERTY?

<u>Id</u>., at D463.

This proceeding follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is clear that the reasonable probability of rezoning is a factor that the trier of fact may consider when determining the value of condemned land. Given this fact, it is logical that the reasonable probability of the granting of a variance to a zoning ordinance should also be a proper factor for the trier of fact to consider. This is particularly true in light of the fact that this court has held that to grant a variance or exception is to rezone.

To conclude otherwise is to say that a condemnee has no duty to mitigate damages resulting from a taking when such mitigation can be accomplished by obtaining a variance. Such a condemnee would be able to ignore a simple method of avoiding the consequences of the taking and to collect damages for those consequences. Moreover, after accepting payment for the damages, the condemnee could then obtain the variance, correct the avoidable consequences and pocket the often substantial difference between the cost-to-cure and the payment received. Such a windfall at taxpayers' expense would fly in the face of well settled principles relating to the duty to mitigate damages.

The general rule is that one seeking damages cannot recover for damages that could have been avoided by the exercise of reasonable care. This concept applies to virtually every case in which recovery of a money judgment or award is authorized, including condemnation proceedings.

Cases from other jurisdictions have endorsed the position argued by the County, while the Florida case upon which the

appellate court here relied did not deal with the question of whether it is proper for a party to introduce evidence of a reasonable probability of a variance being granted.

The decision of the appellate court must therefore be reversed.

ARGUMENT

THE GOVERNMENT MAY SUBMIT EVIDENCE THAT THE SEVERANCE DAMAGES OF A CONDEMNEE MAY BE CURED OR LESSENED BY ALTERATIONS TO THE CONDEMNEE'S PROPERTY WHEN THOSE ALTERATIONS REQUIRE THE GRANT OF A VARIANCE FROM THE APPROPRIATE GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY HAVING ZONING JURISDICTION OVER THE PROPERTY.

In condemnation proceedings, severance damages are generally measured by the "before and after" rule, which measures the reduction in the value of the property after the taking. Canney v. City of St. Petersburg, 466 So. 2d 1193 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). When the injury to the remaining property can be cured at a cost less than the damages calculated by the reduction in value, the "cost-to-cure" is the appropriate measure of damages. Hill v. Marion County, 238 So. 2d 163 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970).

In the present case, the County sought to prove cost-to-cure severance damages by presenting evidence of proposed alterations that would have been required for granting of a variance as to each property, along with testimony that there existed a reasonable probability that applications for the variances would be granted. This evidence was proper.

It is clear that the reasonable probability of rezoning is a factor that the trier of fact may consider when determining the value of condemned land. City of Miami Beach v. Buckley, 363 So. 2d 360 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), cert. dismissed, 374 So. 2d 98 (Fla. 1979); Board of Commissioners of State Institutions v. Tallahassee Bank and Trust Company, 108 So. 2d 74 (Fla. 1st DCA 1958), cert. quashed, 116 So. 2d 762 (Fla. 1959); Board of Commissioners of

State Institutions v. Tallahassee Bank and Trust Company, 100 So. 2d 67 (Fla. 1st DCA 1958). See also 4 Nichols on Eminent Domain (1993) §12C.03 [2], p. 12C-74--12C-83 and cases cited therein; Annotation, 9 ALR 3d § 6 [a], p. 309-311 and cases cited therein.

Given this fact, it is logical that the reasonable probability of a variance to a zoning ordinance should also be a proper factor for the trier of fact to consider. Indeed, this court in Troup v.Bird, 53 So. 2d 717, 720 (Fla. 1951), recognized that, "broadly speaking, to grant a variance or exception is to rezone." Moreover, in the second Board of Commissioners case, the court demonstrated its agreement with the County's position in this regard by noting that it is proper to consider the fact that there is "a reasonable probability that the ordinance may be changed or an exception made in the foreseeable future." 108 So. 2d at 83 (emphasis added).

To conclude that the evidence presented here was not appropriate is to say that a condemnee has no duty to mitigate damages when such mitigation can be accomplished by obtaining a variance. Such a condemnee would be able to ignore a simple method of avoiding the consequences of the taking and to collect damages for those consequences. Moreover, after accepting payment for the damages, the condemnee could then obtain the variance, correct the avoidable consequences and pocket the often substantial difference between the cost-to-cure and the payment received. Such a windfall at taxpayers' expense would fly in the face of well settled principles relating to the duty to mitigate damages.

The general rule is that one seeking relief cannot recover for damages that could have been avoided by the exercise of reasonable care. Hodges v. Fries, 34 Fla. 38, 15 So. 681, 686 (1894); Jenkins v. Graham, 237 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972). This principle applies in "virtually every type of case in which the recovery of a money judgment or award is authorized." State ex rel. Dresskell v. City of Miami, 153 Fla. 90, 13 So. 2d 707 (1943). Thus, in condemnation proceedings, "a condemnee has a duty to mitigate his losses." Mulkey v. Division of Administration, State of Florida, 448 So. 2d 1062, 1067 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). See also 4 Nichols on Eminent Domain (1993) \$14A.04 [1], p. 14A-100; 14.04 [2][a], p. 14A-101--14A-102.

Application of these principles here therefore compels the conclusion that the evidence presented by the government was properly admitted.

Cases from other jurisdictions have endorsed the position argued by the County.

In <u>In re Old Riverhead Road</u>, 48 Misc. 2d 39, 264 N.Y.S.2d 162 (Sup. Ct. 1965), the court dealt with a taking that reduced the claimant's side yard width to less than that required by a municipal zoning ordinance. In addressing the issue of damages, 264 N.Y.S.2d at 167, the court stated:

A general rule of damages, however, requires a claimant to minimize his damages. (4 Nichols on Eminent Domain [3d Ed.], 520, §14.22). This suggests that our claimant should seek by other means to legalize the present use. The most obvious and least costly medium would be an application for an area variance. Under the special circumstances of the instant case it is rather unlikely that the Village would deny such an

application. . . . Just as the reasonable probability of obtaining a variance is a proper element to consider in determining the market value of land taken (cf. School District #13 of Town of Huntington v. Wicks, Sup. 227 N.Y.S.2d 768; Cook v. Pieper, 34 Misc.2d 532, 228 N.Y.S.2d 601), so it may also be considered in fixing the amount of other compensable damages resulting from the taking.

In <u>Harwood v. State</u>, 112 A.D.2d 741, 492 N.Y.S.2d 236 (1985), it was found that the trial court erred in considering the effect of a zoning restriction in placing a value on a piece of property without allowing the state to present testimony as to whether a special permit or variance could have been obtained.

In <u>Sorenson Transportation Company</u>, Inc. v. State, 3 Conn. App. 329, 488 A.2d 458 (1985), it was asserted on appeal that the referee erred in valuing certain property on the basis of an access road that could not be built unless a zoning variance and an environmental permit could be obtained. The appellate court rejected the claim relying on the evidence presented before the referee that the required variances and permits would have been granted.

Despite recognizing two of these three out of jurisdiction cases and expressing concern over the County's claim in this regard, the appellate court found the introduction of the evidence in the present case to be error. The court relied primarily upon the decision in <u>Williams v. State Department of Transportation</u>, 579 So. 2d 226 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), for "the proposition that the government, when attempting to prove cost-to-cure severance damages, cannot present evidence of proposed alterations to a condemnee's property when those alterations are predicated upon the

grant of a variance from the controlling zoning authority. Patel
v. Broward County, __ So. 2d __ at __, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D463 at
D463 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 10, 1993) (footnote omitted).5

In <u>Williams</u>, the Department of Transportation presented an expert witness who testified that each of four cost-to-cure site plan proposals he prepared complied with all applicable codes, ordinances and laws. The condemnees adduced evidence that the proposed cures did not meet certain requirements of the city and county zoning codes and moved to strike the testimony of the department's expert. In overruling this motion, the trial court volunteered that the strict requirements of the ordinances and codes would be subject to variance and that the parties could argue to the jury the applicability of the ordinances and the probabilities of a variance being granted.

Thus, the question of whether it was proper for a party to introduce evidence of a reasonable probability of a variance being granted was not at issue in <u>Williams</u>. No such evidence was even offered in that case.

Rather, the decision in <u>Williams</u> merely stands for the proposition that the question of whether a proposed cure complies

Transportation v. Byrd, 254 So. 2d 836 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971) for this proposition. That case, however, did not deal with a variance or even with a zoning ordinance. Rather it stands for the proposition that a condemnee suffers severance damage when parking spaces lost by virtue of a taking are relocated on the remaining portion of the property. The County does not dispute the principle of law set forth in Byrd, but does submit that it has no relevance to the question of whether the government may properly introduce evidence of the reasonable probability of a variance being granted.

with a zoning ordinance is a question of law, not one for the trier of fact. Any language in <u>Williams</u> relating to the likelihood of a variance is therefore nothing more than dicta that cannot withstand the logic of the authorities set forth previously in the brief. ⁶

⁶ Although not specifically indicating whether it considered it to be a basis for reversal, the appellate court also relied on <u>Williams</u> in concluding that the County's experts failed to consider any loss to the condemnees by virtue of the appropriation of other areas of their property for parking. This conclusion is also erroneous.

In this regard, it should initially be noted that the appellate court incorrectly dealt with this matter as one pertaining to both Respondents. In fact, the site plan for Patel's property involved only the remodeling of the existing parking lot and not the relocation of any parking spaces onto other parts of the property (T 562-568). This factor is therefore of no relevance to consideration of the damages suffered by Patel.

With regard to the Picillos, the County's expert testified that the nine spaces that existed before the taking were still usable afterwards (T 628-629, 651, 656, 691-692). Therefore, no other area of the property needed to be appropriated in a manner that would call for severance damages. Moreover, under the site plan presented to cure any loss of parking that might have been said to exist, the area in which the parking spaces were relocated was an unpaved area already being used for parking (T 652). Thus, no portion of the property was to be converted to parking from some other use.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, the County respectfully submits that the decision of the appellate court should be reversed and the cause remanded with directions to reinstate the judgments in this cause.