747

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE JUN 4 1993

CASE NO. 81,416

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

BROWARD COUNTY, etc.,

Petitioner,

DIST.COURT OF APPEAL 4TH DISTRICT - NO. 91-1301

vs.

BHARAT PATEL, et al.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS', WARREN & SELINA PICILLO'S, ANSWER BRIEF

Parcels 44 & 44TCE

ENGLISH, McCAUGHAN & O'BRYAN P.A. Attorneys for Picillos Suite 1100, 100 N. E. 3rd Avenue Post Office Box 14098 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33302-4098 Telephone: (305) 462-3300 Miami line: (305) 947-1052

Bv:

ROBERT A. WARE

Florida Bar No. 084789

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- (1) The question certified is, in fact, a moot question in this case for a number of reasons, and is not really one of a great public interest. The Fourth DCA in this case reversed for a new trial on the doctrine of State Dept. of Transportation v. Byrd, 254 So.2d 836 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971), as well as Williams v. State Dept. of Transportation, 579 So.2d 226 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). The Byrd case alone is enough to reverse and Byrd does not even address the issue of the probability of variances nor of zoning in any manner. Therefore, even assuming that no variances at all were required to place eight parking places on PICILLO's side yard, the case should be reversed on the Byrd doctrine. The 4th DCA did not certify the Byrd doctrine nor even question its validity. The County in its Brief recognizes the validity of Byrd in footnote (5) on Page 13.
- (2) The evidence presented by the County concerning the probability of a variance being obtained was predicated upon a zoning ordinance that was not in existence on the Date of Taking and was not adopted until seven (7) months after the Date of Taking. That being the case, the County's testimony was all based on the wrong zoning ordinance and the testimony should not have been allowed for that reason. When the premise for an opinion falls, the opinion must also fall.
- (3) The trial court allowed the County's C.P.A. to testify as a matter of law that business damages were not allowed

on motel cases and they are the same thing as severance damages. (ROA 1438) This is an incorrect statement of the law. Fla. Dept. of Transp. v. Ness Trailer Park, Inc., 489 So.2d 1172 (4th DCA 1986). Both conclusions are beyond the legal expertise of a C.P.A. as he is neither a lawyer nor a real estate broker and the determination of whether business damages and severance damages are duplicative is one for the court to make after the jury verdict has come in. The case should have been reversible on that point also.

- (4) The trial court allowed city zoning officials to testify as to legal interpretation of zoning ordinances, which is beyond their legal expertise and is a matter that should be ruled on by the trial judge and not be allowed in testimony by lay zoning officials. Among other things, they interpreted the zoning code in such a way as to opine that parking on the side yard was not grandfathered in.
- (5) The trial court established the law of the case in the PATEL/PICILLO matter when at the Order of Taking the Court struck the testimony of the County's appraiser because of the <u>Byrd</u> case doctrine that lost parking could not be recaptured by putting it in the side yard, because this would deprive the motel of its area of expansion and the area for other amenities for its guests to enjoy. Therefore, the Court should not have allowed at the jury trial the testimony which was based on exactly the same theory.
- (6) The testimony concerning the probability for a variance should not be allowed because a variance is vastly different from the probability of a zoning change. A variance

is purely permissive and can have many conditions attached thereto that make such opinion totally speculative. It would further cause the owner to have a motel in the after situation that did not meet in all respects the zoning then in existence; whereas, in the before situation, when the motel was built, it complied with all of the current zoning regulations.

POINT I

THE QUESTION AS CERTIFIED IS NOT OF GREAT PUBLIC INTEREST.

The case of <u>Williams v. State Dept. of Transportation</u>, 579 So.2d 226 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), which was decided in April, 1991, is the case from which the Fourth District Court of Appeals derived its conclusion that a condemning authority could not base its cure upon the reliance of or the presentation of testimony upon the possibility of obtaining a variance from zoning codes. Since that time, the legislature has met twice - in both 1992 and in 1993 - and there has been no great hue and cry from the Department of Transportation or any other group of condemnor representatives that this case should be overridden by some legislative action. There have been no editorials in newspapers that this is an incorrect ruling nor any law review articles, known to this writer, condemning such a ruling.

This law derives from the <u>Houston Texas Gas & Oil Corp.</u>

v. <u>Hoeffner</u>, 132 So.2d 38 (Fla. 2 DCA 1961) case, which upheld the trial court when the court refused to permit evidence of value based on some nonobligatory of the policy of the condemnor to permit the defendants to make use of land within an easement after condemnation. This suit is no different than a permissive act of zoning authority to give relief from the zoning. The <u>Houston Texas Gas</u> case is some 32 years old and <u>State Dept. of Transportation v. Byrd</u>, 254 So.2d 836 (Fla 1st DCA 1971), the case which the 4DCA

relied on, is 22 years old. There has been no public outcry of any kind concerning those cases.

In fact, in the case of <u>Smith v. City of Tallahassee</u>, 191 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966) the Appellate Court reversed the trial court for allowing testimony that the City might grant its consent to bridge over a drainage ditch, "which consent could have been withheld or granted at its will with such restrictions or limitations as it wished" (PG. 448) The <u>Smith</u> case is some 27 years old; again, without any great public interest being shown in that opinion.

POINT II

THE QUESTION CERTIFIED IS MOOT IN THIS CASE AND, THEREFORE, NEED NOT BE DECIDED.

The Fourth District Court of Appeals has completely missed the point in Byrd, supra, and in Williams, supra. Byrd case there was no issue at all discussed about a variance nor a zoning change and, in fact, the PATEL/PICILLO case stands reversed based on the doctrine of Byrd, that you cannot cure the damages for loss of parking in front by placing parking in another portion of the remainder tract without subscribing the damages that are caused due to the loss of future expansion space or the loss of amenities for guests of the hotel to enjoy, or the loss caused by destroying other uses already on the remainder. The main thrust of the Williams case, supra, was to the same effect that the condemnor could not cure parking on the electronics business site by disrupting and taking space away from the business in their maintenance area and in their expansion area in the rear. Williams case, the point of the proposed changes having to meet with Code in all respects before they were admissible was a secondary point and totally unnecessary to the final decision of the case. As in the PICILLO case the issue of the probability of rezoning was also a totally secondary issue because even if one were to concede that they did not need to have any variances in order to place eight parking spaces in PICILLOS side yard, such testimony is inadmissible to cure damages based on the doctrines

in the <u>Byrd</u> and <u>Williams</u> cases about the cure encroaching on an expansion area, an area for the enjoyment of guests and on a maintenance area. In the <u>Byrd</u> case the cure destroyed a shuffleboard court, which was not replaced. In the PICILLO case a pool heater was caused to be moved, a television disk was caused to be destroyed and the fenced-in courtyard area around the pool was caused to be made smaller and the hotel lost its ability to park campers, trucks and boats in the side yard for its guests who stayed for months at a time.

The evidence presented by the County for a variance was predicated upon a zoning ordinance that was non-existent on the Date of Taking. It was not adopted until seven months after the Date of Taking. That being the case, even assuming a condemnor can present a reasonable probability of a variance, the testimony should have been stricken because it was based on the wrong zoning ordinance. This court has stated in <u>Yoder v. Sarasota County</u>, 81 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1955) at page 221:

Nevertheless, the value must be established in light of these elements as of the time of lawful appropriation. (Emphasis by Court.) It is not proper to speculate on what could be done to the land, or what might be done to it to make it more valuable, and then solicit evidence on what it might be worth with such speculative improvements at some unannounced future date. To permit such evidence would open a floodgate of speculation and conjecture that would convert an eminent domain proceeding into a quessing contest. (Emphasis added.)

In <u>Stubbs v. State Dept. of Transportation</u>, 332 So.2d 155 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976) the Court stated at page 157:

Further, the law of Florida is clear that in eminent domain proceedings a property owner's damages must be related to the time of taking, and the testimony of the expert appraisers must be related to that time.

This unrelenting line of cases continued in <u>Jacksonville</u>
<u>Transportation Authority v. ASC Associates</u>, 559 So.2d 330 (Fla. 1st
DCA 1990) which said at page 333:

...the evidence presented on that issue must be restricted to the value of the land taken at the time of the lawful appropriation (emphasis by Court) . . . The value must be established in the light of these elements as of the time of lawful appropriation. (Emphasis added.)

Therefore, the County's experts based their conclusions on a possible cost-to-cure on a date and time some seven months after the date of lawful appropriation and their testimony should not have been admitted.

of any testimony concerning a variance being possibly granted to locate parking in PICILLO'S side yard, one needs but remember that the testimony of the witnesses for both the County and the owner was to the effect that PICILLO was already parking cars, campers, trucks, and boats in the side yard and was able to have eight cars parked there in unmarked parking on the grass. There were specific ordinances in the city of Pompano grandfathering in such parking (APP.3, 4); therefore, whether or not a variance could be granted, or whether or not a variance was needed, the condemnor cannot cure a loss of parking in the front by putting parking in the side where

parking is already occurring, and other amenities are already located.

Since the Fourth District waited nine months after the oral argument to enter their Opinion, they must have overlooked some of the facts of this case. The above recited facts also show that the trial court was absolutely in error in refusing to grant Motions in Limine, Motions to Strike and Motions for Directed Verdict directed to the County's proposed cure in the PICILLO case, regardless of the variance issue. Had the trial court adhered to its ruling at the Order of Taking hearing (which established the law of the case) and granted the Motions in Limine filed by PICILLO, the issue of allowing testimony concerning a variance would never have been reached.

POINT III

MAY THE GOVERNMENT SUBMIT EVIDENCE THAT THE SEVERANCE DAMAGES OF A CONDEMNEE MAY BE CURED OR LESSENED BY ALTERATIONS TO THE CONDEMNEE'S PROPERTY WHEN THOSE ALTERATIONS REQUIRE THE GRANT OF A VARIANCE FROM THE APPROPRIATE GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY HAVING ZONING JURISDICTION OVER THE PROPERTY.

The question as certified by the Fourth District Court of Appeals was totally an unnecessary and secondary point in the <u>Williams</u> case, supra, and was an unnecessary and secondary point in the PATEL/PICILLO case, which is currently before the Court. Contrary to the statement by the 4DCA, the <u>Byrd</u> case, supra, did not address this question at all.

The only reason that it came up in PATEL/PICILLO is that the trial court erred in the fist instance in allowing testimony concerning moving parking into the side or back yards of the respective business establishments in order to cure severance damages. Both the <u>Byrd</u> and <u>Williams</u> appellate courts based their reversal on their conclusion that such a theoretical mitigation of damages (1) was impermissibly based on a premise that would require destruction by the property owners of property that is outside the area of taking, (2) impermissibly ignored the fact that the new proposed parking area would intrude into a previous service area, (3) ignored the impacts of rear parking for customers, (4) ignored the impact which rear parking for the customers might have on the value of the property as a business site, and (5) ignored the fact that the new parking would prevent further expansion of the business.

In the PICILLO matter parking was already located in the grassy side yard, and the County's plan required the relocation of a television disk antenna, a reduction in the size of the pool patio area and the relocation of other items.

Notwithstanding the above, the variance testimony in reduction of severance damages should not be allowed because the granting of variances is a totally permissive act of some other governmental authority which may be granted, denied, or granted with any number of concessions or conditions that the grantee must meet that would also cause additional severance damages, such as additional costs to install whatever the conditions are (i.e., installation of mature landscaping, decorative walls, alteration Such conditions would cause reduction in the of access, etc.). value of the remainder cite in the eyes of the prospective, willing buyer knowing all of the surrounding facts. Such opinions that variances would be granted are purely speculative. The granting or denial of variances also can become a political problem where neighbors come down and object at the hearing making such opinion even more speculative.

It has been held in <u>Peebles v. Canal Authority</u>, 254 So.2d 232 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971) that privileges that are merely "permissive" cannot be availed of in reduction of damages in an eminent domain case. The court stated at page 233:

^{. . .} Appellee could not base its appraisal upon a policy of allowing access to the pool, as such access would be conditioned upon the benevolence of Appellee.

In <u>Peebles</u>, testimony concerning the probability of obtaining such a grant of access was allowed into evidence and the verdict and judgment was reversed and sent back for a new trial.

Of similar import is the case of Houston Texas Gas & Oil Corp. v. Hoeffner, 132 So.2d 38 (Fla. 2 DCA 1961) which also is an eminent domain case that upheld the trial court when the Court refused to permit evidence of value based upon some non-obligatory policy of the condemnor to permit the defendants to make use of the land within an easement after condemnation. In that case the permission of the condemnor itself was held to be too speculative upon which to base a reduction of severance damages. In PICILLO the variance would have to be granted by the City of Pompano Beach over whom the County as condemnor had no influence.

In <u>Smith v. City of Tallahassee</u>, 191 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966), the appellate court reversed the case because the trial court denied motions to strike testimony based upon a hypothesis that the owners could bridge over the ditch that the condemnor was going to put on the part taken. The court stated at page 448:

An easement <u>over</u>, <u>above</u> and <u>under</u> (Emphasis by Court) the thirty foot ditch effectively prohibited the required use by the owners without the consent of the City, which it could withhold or grant, at its will, with such restrictions or limitations as it wished. (Emphasis added.)

Since the jury awarded only the cost of paving new parking places, we can only speculate on how much the damages might be, should the city not allow all of the parking proposed by the

County, but rather allow only 75% of the spaces due to the large number of exceptions requested or should the city require decorative walls or mature landscaping or some other restriction as a condition to granting some or all of the variances.

Quite another reason for disallowing opinion testimony as to the possibility of a variance being obtained here is that at the time the building was built, the owners complied in all respects with any then existing zoning regulations and in the "after" situation they deserve to be able to have parking that complied in all respects with the parking regulations in effect on the date of taking. The requirements in the Code of Ordinances concerning size of parking places, handicapped parking, location and number of driveways, cross-vision triangles and back-up turning room in parking lots are for safety. The plan proposed by the County violated a great number of these safety regulations, which would endanger not only the guests of the motel but passing motorists on the improved A-1-A. An owner should not be compelled to accept as a "cure" parking that violates safety regulations. Every parking space designed by the County in their cure, which was allowed into evidence, violated at least one portion of the Ordinance concerning design and lay out of parking lots. (ROA.863; APP.5-9) The County's appraiser has ignored the effect that an unsafe or sub-standard parking arrangement would have on the price that a willing purchaser would pay for this property, particularly when other motels in the area have parking that does not violate these safety regulations of the Code.

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